FILF SID J. WHITE

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FEB 17 1992

CLERK, SUPPEME COURT: By... Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No.: 79,233

CHARLES R. PHILLIPS, SR.,

Respondent.

## PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

GÝPSY BAILEY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0797200

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904)488-0600

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

####

### Preliminary Statement

Petitioner, the State of Florida, appellee in the case below and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referred to in this brief as the state. Respondent, CHARLES R. PHILLIPS, SR., appellant in the case below and defendant in the trial court, will be referred to in this brief as respondent. References to the opinion of the First District contained in the attached appendix will be noted by the symbol "A," and references to the record on appeal will be noted by the symbol "R." All references will be followed by the appropriate volume and page number(s) in parentheses.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The state seeks review of the decision of the First District in which that court reversed respondent's convictions for two counts of sexual battery on a child under 12 years of age and remanded the case for a new trial.

On March 15, 1990, the state charged respondent with two counts of sexual battery under Fla. Stat. § 794.011(2) on N.M. and one count of lewd and lascivious behavior under Fla. Stat. § 800.04 on N.M. (R 563). On July 30, 1990, the state filed a notice of its intent to use hearsay statements of child witnesses (R 578-85). Also on July 30th, the state failed a notice of proof of other criminal offenses committed by respondent (R 586). On October 8, 1990, the state moved for the use of closed circuit television at trial or the videotaping of the child witnesses' testimony (R 588).

On October 19, 1990, the jury found respondent guilty as charged (R 594-95). On January 30, 1991, the trial court adjudicated respondent guilty, and sentenced him to life imprisonment on each count of sexual battery, to run concurrently, each carrying a 25 year minimum mandatory, to run concurrently, and to 22 years' imprisonment on the lewd and lascivious count (R 630-36). Respondent moved for a new trial, and pursuant to a stipulation by the state and defense counsel, on February 13, 1991, the trial court granted a judgment of acquittal as to count 3 (lewd and lascivious) of the information (R 675). On February 25, 1991, the trial court denied respondent's motions for judgments of acquittal on the other counts (R 676). Respondent timely filed his notice of appeal on February 27, 1991 (R 677).

In his initial brief to the First District, respondent raised five issues: (1) The trial court erred in allowing testimony of psychologist Michael DeMaria, over the objection, explaining the characteristics of a pedophile; (2) the trial court erred in admitting, over objection, the child victim's prior consistent statements; (3) the trial court erred in not granting a judgment of acquittal as to count 2 of the information; (4) the trial court erred in allowing the child witnesses to testify via closed circuit television and outside the presence of the jury; and (5) the trial court committed the following cumulative errors: (a) in allowing the prosecutor to improperly vouch for the credibility of a state's witness and to attack the personal integrity of respondent's attorney; (b) in failing to allow respondent's attorney to bring out exculpatory parts of a statement made by respondent to a deputy sheriff after the latter had testified to inculpatory parts of the same statement; (c) in prohibiting respondent's attorney from

- 3 -

arguing that proof beyond a reasonable doubt is proof to a moral certainty; and (d) in allowing the state to impeach respondent's wife with respondent's prior statement. The state filed an answer brief, in which it addressed the five issues presented by respondent and propounded a sixth issue on cross-appeal concerning the trial court's denial of a state's motion in limine.

November 4, 1991, the First District reversed On respondent's convictions based strictly on its consideration of the first issue presented -- the pedophile profile The First distinguished its decision in Flanagan evidence. v. State, 586 So.2d 1085 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), <sup>1</sup> finding that, "[i]n Flanagan, the profile testimony was not linked to the defendant, whereas in this case, the prosecutor argued at length that [respondent] met the characteristics of the Regarding the state's issue on cross-(A 5). profile." appeal, the First found that the trial court committed no error in permitting respondent to introduce evidence that the victim charged that another man committed similar illegal acts upon her, citing to State v. Savino, 567 So.2d 892 (Fla. 1990) (A 2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> <u>Flanagan</u> is currently pending in this Court, case number 78,923.

On November 18, 1991, the state moved for certification of the same questions certified in <u>Flanagan</u>, and on December 26, 1991, the First District granted this request (A 6-7). On January 15, 1992, the state filed its notice to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction. On January 16, 1992, the state moved this Court to recall the mandate issued by the First on January 13, 1992; this motion is still pending. On January 21, 1992, this Court postponed its decision on jurisdiction, and established a briefing schedule. This brief follows.

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

#### As to Issue I:

Although respondent objected in the trial court to introduction of the pedophile profile evidence, he did so solely on relevance grounds. Under <u>Glendening</u>, such an objection was insufficient to preserve for appellate review his arguments that the jury would place too much emphasis on Dr. DeMaria's testimony and might infer that Dr. DeMaria was vouching for the credibility of N.M. Accordingly, the First District erred in reaching the merits of this issue.

## As to Issue II:

Pedophile profile evidence does not constitute expert scientific evidence which must pass the <u>Frye</u> test before being admitted. Because Dr. DeMaria testified strictly as to general profile information/aspects, the "new scientific techniques" requirement of Frye simply was not implicated.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT (Continued)

#### As to Issue III:

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the pedophile/child sex offender evidence, because presented the evidence anticipatorily the state to rehabilitate the testimony of N.M. and because its probative value outweighed any prejudice. If this Court finds that the trial court erred in admitting this evidence, any such clearly harmless in light of error was the other substantial, unchallenged evidence of respondents' guilt presented by the state.

#### As to Issue IV:

The First District erred in finding no abuse of discretion by the trial court in its denial of the state's motion to restrict defense counsel from asking the victim whether she had been sexually abused by anyone other than respondent. It is clear that Hattenback's alleged commission of sexual battery on N.M. had nothing to do with respondent's commission of the instant charged offenses, and thus was not relevant.

#### ARGUMENT

#### Issue I

WHETHER RESPONDENT PRESERVED THE ISSUE OF PEDOPHILE PROFILE EVIDENCE FOR APPELLATE REVIEW BY THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL.

By addressing the merits of respondent's pedophile profile issue, the First District overlooked one very significant fact: Respondent failed to preserve this issue for appellate review. Defense counsel below objected to the profile evidence solely on relevance grounds (T 133). Therefore, the only issue preserved before the First District was relevance. Instead of arguing relevance, however, respondent argued that the jury would place undue emphasis on such an expert's testimony and might infer that the expert was vouching for the credibility of the victim.

Glendening v. State, 536 So.2d 212 (Fla. 1988), cert. denied, 492 U.S. 907 (1989), is instructive on this point. There, defense counsel objected to expert testimony only on the basis of relevance, not, as argued on appeal, that the expert was improperly vouching for the credibility of the victim. Declaring that the point was not preserved, this Court stated that the issue argued "must be the specific contention asserted as the legal ground for the objection below." Id. at 221 (emphasis in original) (citing State, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982)). Steinhorst v.

Accordingly, the First District should not have addressed this point.

### Issue II

CERTIFIED QUESTION NO. 1: IS EXPERT SCIENTIFIC TESTIMONY WHICH DOES NOT MEET THE TEST OF FRYE V. UNITED STATES, 293 (D.C. CIR. 1923), 1013 FOR F. ADMISSIBILITY NOVEL SCIENTIFIC OF OTHERWISE ADMISSIBLE EVIDENCE AS BACKGROUND INFORMATION IN A CRIMINAL TRIAL?

A. Rephrasing the question, does pedophile profile evidence constitute expert scientific evidence which must pass the <u>Frye v. United States</u>, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923), test before being admissible in a sexual battery case?

The state respectfully suggests that the question posed by the First District is inaccurately worded, as it labels the instant pedophile profile evidence as expert scientific evidence before it asks whether it must meet the Frye test, which governs the admissibility of scientific evidence, not expert psychological opinion. Further, it reaches beyond the facts of the instant case. The First District certified the instant question because it did so in Flanagan v. State, 586 So.2d 1085 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). But, in Flanagan, the plurality opinion of the court specifically declined to "speculate . . . [0]n whether scientific acceptance of such testimony will come in the future, thereby meeting the exacting standards first laid down in Frye," because the pedophile profile evidence was admitted only as background information and was, in any event harmless. Id. at 1100. Accordingly, the state suggests, and addresses, the above question in its stead.

One of the critical aspects of this issue is the actual holding of the <u>Flanagan</u> plurality opinion. It did not approve the wholesale admissibility of pedophile profile evidence; rather, it held that such evidence was properly introduced as background information, or in the alternative, improperly introduced, but harmless under the facts of this case. Such a position is eminently wise, as the issue concerns a new, evolving area of the law, one which should be decided based on the unique facts of cases where the issue is dispositive. This Court should not commit itself to a firm rule of law based on a hypothetical issue.

The other district courts of appeal have followed this approach. In <u>Erickson v. State</u>, 565 So.2d 328 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990), Dr. Mandri testified that, in his opinion, the defendant suffered from pedophilia and antisocial behavior, and was not truthful during the interview. The Fourth District held that, because the defendant's mental condition was not at issue, the expert should not have been allowed to testify as to this information. <u>Compare Francis v. State</u>, 512 So.2d 280 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987) (such evidence was inadmissible under section 90.404 because the state did not offer it to rebut an issue raised by the defendant). However, the court concluded that its admission was harmless under the facts of that case.<sup>2</sup>

2

Respondent cited to both Erickson and Francis in his

Important, although not discussed in Erickson, is the information actually related by Dr. Mandri. He in fact offered an opinion as to whether the defendant was a pedophile, which made his testimony expert. See also Francis, 512 So.2d at 280 (the state's expert child psychologist testified that, in his opinion, the defendant had a personality characteristic of being attracted to children). In the instant appeal, however, Dr. DeMaria never related an opinion as to whether respondent fit the profile. His testimony was strictly informational, and as such, was not an expert opinion, thereby not implicating See People v. McDonald, 37 Cal. 3d 351, 690 P.2d 709, Frye. 208 Cal. Rptr. 236 (1984). See also Comment, The Admissibility of Expert Psychological Testimony in Cases Involving the Sexual Misuse of a Child, 42 U. Miami L. Rev. 1033, 1060 (1988) ("An expert testifying as to general facts obtained through the application of traditional research methods is not applying new scientific techniques. The expert, instead, is testifying as to facts within either personal knowledge of contained in learned treatises reasonably relied upon by experts in the field. Therefore, the Frye test is inapplicable in such a situation."); People v. Gray, 187 Cal. App. 3d, 231 Cal. Rptr. 658 (1986) (where

brief to the First District, without noting that neither absolutely precludes the admission of such evidence and without noting that the <u>Erickson</u> court actually found the evidence harmless there. doctor called to testify concerning child sexual abuse accommodation syndrome, evidence properly admitted without applying <u>Frye</u> because it was not admitted for purposes of establishing diagnosis or rendering opinion, but for description of traits and characteristics); <u>Flanagan</u>, 586 So.2d at 1110-11 (Ervin, J., dissenting) ("Presumably, <u>Frye</u> was not discussed [in <u>Glendening</u>] because the expert provided strictly personal opinion testimony.").

This Court should not be persuaded by Judge Ervin's dissent in Flanagan, which contains a fatal flaw: Judge Ervin concludes that Frye applies because the expert there based her testimony on "certain studies of child sexual abusers and their victims." Flanagan, 586 So.2d at 1111. Under the terms of Frye itself, such an observation in no way invokes the Frye test. Further, such an observation is inconsistent with other areas of the law in which studies are relied upon, but which have not been mandated to comply for example, experts testifying with Frye, about а defendant's insanity. See Flanagan, 586 So.2d at 1109 (Ervin, J., dissenting) (noting that Frye has been applied in the past only to test the reliability of new scientific physical procedures, like hypnosis, lie detector examination, and voiceprint identifications, not to new psychological procedures); Flanagan v. State, Case No. 87-871, proposed panel opinion attached to order dated Nov. 20,

1990 at 61 (Wentworth, J., dissenting) ("Neither <u>Bundy</u> [v. <u>State</u>, 471 So.2d 9 (Fla. 1985)] nor <u>Stokes</u> [v. State, 548 So.2d 188 (Fla. 1989)] extends the <u>Frye</u> test to general syndrome evidence such as is involved in the present case. Indeed, [Judge Ervin] recognized this with regard to <u>Bundy</u>, expressly rejecting the application of <u>Frye</u> to syndrome evidence in his partial concurrence and dissent in <u>Hawthorne</u> v. State, 470 So.2d 770 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985).").

#### Issue III

CERTIFIED QUESTION NO. 2: IS PEDOPHILE/ CHILD SEX OFFENDER PROFILE EVIDENCE ADMISSIBLE IN A CRIMINAL TRIAL?

Again, the state submits that the above question is inaccurately presented, as it in no way reflects the issue as addressed in the trial court and First District. This Court should not reach beyond the facts of this case, where it is clear that the evidence was not used to show that respondent was the offender.

Further, this question seeks a definitive answer to a question which concerns an evolving area of the law and is therefore most appropriately treated on a case-by-case basis. As Justice Shaw aptly noted in a different context:

> If we maintain the Bundy [v. State, 471 So.2d 9 (Fla. 1985), cert. denied, 479 U.S. 894 . . . (1986)] per se rule, as slightly modified by the decision here, evolution and experience, as it applies to criminal proceedings, cannot take place in Florida. and other This Florida courts will be bystanders awaiting incremental directions from the United States Supreme Court which may well result in numerous reversals of Florida convictions or, in the case of acquittals, the denial of relevant hypnotically recalled evidence. I would adopt the approach outline in Judge Ervin's thoughtful examination of the issue in Brown v. State, 426 So.2d 76 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), of which we spoke approvingly in Bundy v. State, 455 So.2d 330 (Fla. 1984). Briefly, the approach calls for a threshold determination by the trial judge of the reliability and

relevant of the hypnotically recalled evidence on the specific based of the circumstances hypnotic session(s), novelty and want of general scientific acceptance being only one facet in the court's relevancy analysis. Thereafter, assuming the evidence is admitted, the jury should be instructed on the potential shortcomings of the technique and the parties should be attack or permitted to defend the technique using available authorities and evidence. In essence, the issue at this stage becomes one of weight and credibility for the jury.

Morgan v. State, 537 So.2d 973, 977-78 (Fla. 1989). Accordingly, the state suggests and addresses the following question:

> WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN ADMITTING THE PEDOPHILE/ CHILD SEX OFFENDER PROFILE EVIDENCE.

The controlling question here, as with all evidence, is relevance. Fla. Stat. §90.402 (1987); <u>Bryan v. State</u>, 533 So.2d 744 (Fla. 1988), <u>cert. denied</u>, 104 L.Ed.2d 200 (1989). Once deemed relevant, the probative value of the evidence must outweigh any possible prejudice. If that hurdle is overcome, the evidence is properly admitted. Fla. Stat. §90.403 (1989).

In this case, the evidence was relevant<sup>3</sup> to anticipatorily rehabilitate the victim's testimony.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Despite the First District's "mounting trepidation" concerning such evidence, Flanagan, 586 So.2d at 1100, even

Respondent's theory of defense was as follows: The case against respondent only "came to light" because David Hattenback "had been doing some sexually molesting things to [the victim]." (T 39-40). Thus, according to respondent, in later interviews, the victim said respondent did the same things to her.<sup>4</sup> (T 40). This defense fully manifested itself during cross examination of the victim, when defense counsel questioned the victim extensively about Hattenback (T 197, 199-201) and "things [she saw her] mom doing that [she] didn't want to tell about in the bedroom with men" (T 199). Further, Dr. DeMaria's testimony was offered only for educational/informational purposes, and in no way pointed to respondent as the perpetrator.

If this Court determines that the admission of the profile evidence was erroneous, the state submits that such an error was harmless because the state presented other substantial, unchallenged proof of respondent's guilt. <u>See Duley v. State</u>, 56 Md.App. 275, 467 A.2d 776 (1983) (while child battering profile deemed "totally irrelevant," court

Judge Ervin noted that such evidence can be relevant. <u>Id.</u>, 586 So.2d at 1109 n.19.

In establishing his theory of defense during opening statements, defense counsel said of the victim: "I can't tell you what she's going to tell you today, and the prosecutor can't either, because every time she tells a story, it's told different[ly]. But what we submit to you is that she's not telling the truth about [respondent]." (T 40).

found its admission harmless in light of other sufficient evidence); <u>State v. Loebach</u>, 310 N.W.2d 56 (Mn. 1981) (even though defendant did not place his character at issue, admission of battering parent profile harmless in light of overwhelming evidence of guilt); <u>Sanders v. State</u>, 251 Ga. 70, 303 S.E.2d 13 (1983) (admission of battering parent profile erroneous but harmless due to overwhelming evidence and fact that it had been covered in other unchallenged evidence).

state introduced respondent's Specifically, the Elswick, which were quite admissions to Officer incriminating: Respondent admitted to knowing the victim for several years, and to having baby-sat her very often, occasionally alone (T 84). He told Elswick that he could not think of any reason why the victim would want to get him in trouble (T 84). Respondent wondered, if the victim's accusation were true, "what in the world" was happening to him (T 85). He admitted to kissing the victim all over, including placing his tongue in her mouth (T 86); to kissing the victim's genital area, and that it scared the devil out of him (T 87-88); and to watching a movie depicting sexual relations between adults and children, and to reading books on the same subject (T 91-92). Respondent also admitted to having fantasies about sexual relations with children (T 92-94).

- 18 -

The state's first witness, Belinda Norred, testified that the victim said respondent put his penis in her mouth (T 48). Deborah Cannon, an HRS worker, related the victim's statements to her: Respondent put his mouth on her "front private part"; respondent's pants were down and he forced the victim to touch his "thing"; and these activities occurred more than once at respondent's house (T 57-59). The victim told another witness the same thing (T 76). The victim testified via closed circuit television, stating without hesitation that respondent touched her "on her private" and that respondent made her put her mouth on his private (T 190-91). She described where and how respondent kissed her, and stated that he taught her the phrase "French Thus, there is [kissing]." (T 193). no reasonable possibility that the pedophile profile evidence affected the jury's verdict. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

## Issue IV<sup>5</sup>

WHETHER THE FIRST DISTRICT ERRED IN UPHOLDING THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF THE STATE'S MOTION IN LIMINE.

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