017

FILED

MAH 30 1992

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SOPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

VS.

CASE NO. 79,233

CHARLES R. PHILLIPS, SR.,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S AMENDED BRIEF ON THE MERITS

LEO A. THOMAS (ATTY. #149502)
Levin, Middlebrooks, Mabie,
Thomas, Mayes & Mitchell, P.A.
226 South Palafox Street
Pensacola, FL 32501
(904)435-7169
Attorney for Respondent.

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

Glendening v. State, 536 So. 2d 212 (Fla. 1988), cert. den., 492 U.S. 907 (1989), may be instructive, as Petitioner claims, but it certainly is not applicable to the instant case. In Glendening, the testimony of a psychologist that in his expert opinion a child victim's allegation was based upon independent recall rather than improper prompting and to this, defense counsel objected on relevance grounds rather than improper vouching for the credibility of a hearsay declarant (at p. 221). That is not the case here. That is, Dr. DeMaria's testimony below was not an opinion of the child victim's "truthfulness" but rather, with the prosecutor as a conduit², was a character attack upon Respondent.

In <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982), also relied upon by Petitioner, the objection in the trial court was to the trial court's prohibition of cross examination of a state witness

See the prosecutor's closing argument below where after reviewing the many factors of a pedofile she stated:

"And the defendant had that combination of factors, and it's clear from all the evidence that has been presented that the defendant did cross that line, did fool with those children."

(TR 402)

based on its relevance to the witness' <u>credibility</u>, as argued by defense counsel. On appeal, the defendant argued that the question went to the defendant's <u>theory of defense</u> - the state witness was protecting the real murderer. Although this Court there stated that an objection should be specific, it did go on to say that even if the "newly raised" argument were considered, it had no merit (at p. 318).

The test for specificity of an objection was set out by this Court in <u>Castor v.</u> State, 365 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1978):

"To meet the objectives of any contemporaneous objection rule, an objection must be sufficiently specific both to apprise the trial judge of the putative error and to preserve the issue for intelligent review on appeal." (p. 703; cites omitted)

Williams v. State, 414 So.2d 509 (Fla. 1982), is truly instructive. There, this Court reversed the decision of the First District Court of Appeal, who had opined that the defendant had failed to preserve for appeal the issue of the constitutionality of a statute because there was no definite constitutional issue asserted nor was there a ruling by the trial court³. After holding that the objection passed the "Castor test", even though specificity was lacking, this Court there noted:

"...magic words are not needed to make a proper objection,..." (at. p. 512)

Accordingly, the grounds of relevance are in fact the proper and specific legal basis for the objection and, most

³ <u>Williams v. State</u>, 378 So.2d 837, 838 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979)

certainly, was sufficient to apprise the trial judge and to preserve the issue for intelligent appellate review.

ISSUE II

CERTIFIED QUESTION NO.1: IS EXPERT SCIENTIFIC TESTIMONY WHICH DOES NOT MEET THE TEST OF FRYE V. UNITED STATES, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923), FOR ADMISSIBILITY OF NOVEL SCIENTIFIC EVIDENCE OTHERWISE ADMISSIBLE AS BACKGROUND INFORMATION IN A CRIMINAL TRIAL?

Petitioner refuses to address the certified question as worded because it is clear that pedophile profile testimony cannot pass muster under the Frye Test and wants this Court to carve out an exception which it labels "background information" and that should not be done.

Since 1952, this Court has adhered to the Frye Test for admissibility of novel scientific evidence in a criminal trial. 4 While there has been some uncertainty by the District Courts of Appeal over the years regarding the application of the Frye Test, they were laid to rest in Stokes v. State, 548 So.2d 188 (Fla. 1989), where this Court applied the Frye Test to the question of admissibility of post-hypnotic testimony. If this Court answers certified question no. 1 in the affirmative, it will not only revive the uncertainty prior to Stokes, but will add to the confusion by permitting a "background information exception" to the Frye Test. This exception would be without guidelines or restrictions, except for the broad discretion of each and every trial judge, to then be reviewed by the appellate courts.

<u>Kaminski v. State</u>, 63 So.2d 339 (Fla. 1952).

The real problem with creating such an exception would be the blurring of the distinction between true background information and "background information" that clearly suggests a defendant is guilty. For example, in <u>United States v. Hall</u>, 653 F.2d 1002 (5th Cir. 1981), a DEA agent offered reasons why, in a drug conspiracy case, it is difficult to make controlled buys and seizures of drugs from drug dealers insulated in the higher echelons of drug conspiracies. The court there noted that the "expert testimony" improperly suggested to the jury that the defendant was a high-ranking conspirator. In reversing, the court stated:

"The risk of unfair prejudice inherent in such damning generalities—alone enough to warrant reversal, see Fed.R.Ev. 403—is exacerbated by the nature of the testimony itself." (p. 1007.)

Fed.R.Ev. 403 is the counterpart to Sect.90.403, Fla.Evid.Code.

Consider also the case of <u>Cal v. Renfro</u>, Cal.Ct.App. 3d Dist., (Opinion January 29, 1992, 50 Crl 1469), where the court held that the introduction of a hypothetical child molester profile that "strikingly" resembled the defendant was egregious error.

On the other hand, true background information (which does not suggest guilt) does not invoke the <u>Frye</u> Test, e.g., <u>United States v. Carson</u>, 702 F.2d. 351, 369 (2d Cir.1983) (clandestine manner in which drugs are bought and sold; <u>United States v. Johnson</u>, 575 F.2d. 1347, 1360-1361 (5th Cir.1978), cert.denied, 99 S.Ct. 1213 (1979) (source of marijuana); <u>United States v. Clark</u>, 498 F.2d. 535, 536-37 (2d Cir.1974) (street value of heroin); <u>United States v. Feldman</u>, 788 F.2d. 544, 554 (9th Cir.1986) (percentage of bank robberies

wherein surveillance cameras do not work; percentage of bank robberies wherein fingerprints are recovered).

True background information does not in and of itself condemn the person on trial. What could be more damning than to have an expert witness explain "for educational purposes" the workings of a child molester? Clearly that would be more prejudicial than an expert explaining the battering parent syndrome in a non-sexual child abuse case and here is what one analyst said of that type of testimony:

identifying the defendant as one manifests characteristics of battering parents, the expert places the defendant in a most loathsome class. Theoretically, the evidence is irrelevant because it does no more than associate the defendant with a class of persons who, in the opinion, often abuse children. Realistically, however, the evidence simple the defendant with the scientific community's imprimatur of guilt. The expert's opinion forces into a statistical framework the collected character traits upon which lay persons commonly base their character judgments. Unfortunately, a jury confronted with such evidence may be dazzled by the expert and forget the impossibility of predicting human behavior a reasonable doubt.

* * *

As such evidence places the defendant within a class of typical child abusers, however, it provides the quintessential example of trying defendants for who they are, rather than for what they have done. The expert can add nothing positive to the jury's understanding defendants' character traits, can tremendously prejudice these defendants statistically declaring them child abusers.

In their laudable fervor to punish child abuse, courts still must adhere to fundamental rules of

evidence. The rules exist to guarantee fair results based on objective standards. The odium with which the public views certain offenses cannot justify deviating from evidentiary norms." Battered Child Syndrome: Evidence of Prior Acts in Disguise, 41 U.Fla.L.Rev. 345, 366-367 (1989)

If this court creates an exception to the Frye Test for admissibility of novel scientific evidence, it will only cause confusion and uncertainty in the lower courts, not to mention the additional time and cost. In Lamazares v. Valdez, 353 So.2d 1257 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978), an automobile accident case, the trial judge permitted a psychiatrist and psychologist to testify that the plaintiff was untruthful and he was liable to make a mistake or misjudgment his in driving ability to react to accident circumstances. On appeal, the defendant claimed the trial judge was correct because ". . . the science of psychology has advanced far enough to allow its use in litigation when the trial court determines in its broad discretion that such testimony is competent and relevant." (P. 1258; cites omitted). The court first noted that it was not ". . . yet ready to accept the conclusion reached in the scholarly articles cited by appellee." (Id.) The court then went on to comment:

To allow such evidence would open a new area of speculation in the search for the truth, complicate the issues now and historically entrusted to the triers of fact, and add great costs to litigation which is already approaching prohibitive figures. (Id.)

The same analysis applies in this case if the court creates a background information exception to the Frye test. Accordingly, this Court should answer certified question no. 1 in the negative.

ISSUE III

CERTIFIED QUESTION NO.2: IS PEDOPHILE/CHILD SEX OFFENDER PROFILE EVIDENCE ADMISSIBLE IN A CRIMINAL TRIAL?

The State claims pedophile/profile testimony was admissible to "anticipatorally rehabilitate the victim's testimony." (PB 16) - a novel approach! Rather than offer evidence to explain a prior inconsistency or a prior conviction, the State suggests that this Court should approve a new method of anticipatory rehabilitation without consideration of the Evidence Code.

For example, profile or syndrome evidence may be admissible to explain inconsistent conduct by a <u>victim</u> of sexual abuse, i.e., delay in reporting abuse. Here the State attempts to introduce it to explain the <u>defendant's</u> conduct.

In <u>Bell v. State</u>, 491 So.2d 537 (Fla. 1986), this Court approved the use of anticipatory rehabilitation ". . . to take the wind out of the sails of a defense attack on the witness's credibility" (at p. 538) and permitted the prosecutor to elicit from a state witness that he initially lied to protect the defendant. In so approving, this Court noted that there was "no violation to the Evidence Code . . . " (<u>Id.</u>)

In <u>Lawhorne v. State</u>, 500 So.2d 519 (Fla. 1986), this Court held that it was error for the trial judge to prevent defense counsel from asking the defendant, during direct examination, if he had gone to trial in the cases in which he had been convicted. This Court there noted: "We do not find that the proffered testimony was

impermissible under the Evidence Code as an attempt to establish credibility on the ground of truthfulness on previous occasions... nor do the provisions on evidence of character or traits of character appear to pertain to the testimony here in question" (at p. 523, cites omitted).

The principle of anticipatory rehabilitation does not provide for an exception to the rules of evidence:

What <u>Bell</u> permitted was a departure from the order in which admissible evidence may be presented according to the Evidence Code. <u>Bell</u> does not sanction the use for anticipatory rehabilitation of evidence which is inadmissible because of constitutional violations of due process. <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 566 So.2d 888, 890 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990).

Sections 90.403 and 90.404, Florida Statutes, clearly prohibit the introduction of this testimony.

For the State to contend that Dr. DeMaria's testimony ".
. . in no way pointed to Respondent as the perpetrator" (PB 16)
completely overlooks the record below. The First District Court of
Appeal noted as follows:

"While Dr. DeMaria in his testimony did not directly link the pedophile profile to appellant, the state unmistakably did. In closing argument, the prosecuting attorney stated:"

'Going back to what Dr. DeMaria said, you heard he was an expert in his field, particular[sic] dealing with sexual victims and perpetrators. He told you about the two types of pedophiles that there were. There were aggressive pedophiles and fixated pedophiles. The defense will probably tell you that there is no way that this man can do this to these children because he's married. Well, you heard Dr. DeMaria say that one of the pedophiles is

the regressed pedophile, and the regressed pedophile is often married. Just because you're married does not mean you're a pedophile -- that you're not a pedophile, excuse me, as the defense would probably have you believe. Then he told you about some of the things that pedophiles do or some of the things they think about. He told they fantasize about having sex children. Its constantly on their mind. He told you that they read books about sex with children, they watch movies or videos and that sometimes they need a release for that. Sometimes it can be masturbation and sometimes it can go further, which is the actual touching of the children. He told you that when pedophiles are playing with children, they get sexual feelings from playing with children. He told you that they try to deny their feelings so that they think hey, normal, everybody thinks like this. And he told you they put themselves in situations where they have ready access to children, which is exactly what Mr. Phillips did, opened his home for babysitting so he could have ready access children. And then, once again, as Dr. DeMaria told you with pedophiles it starts out with love, but it crosses the line, and the State submits that's exactly what happened here.'

"And again, the prosecutor argued:"

'As Dr. DeMaria said, they try to generalize their feelings and believe that everybody thinks things like that. And when he [appellant] was talking about the sexual feelings, he [appellant] said I imagine they go through anybody's mind. The State submits they don't go through anybody's mind . . .'

"Significantly, during the state's rebuttal closing argument the prosecutor said:"

'And lastly, the defense talks about the fact that anybody -- the State is saying that anybody who just happens to like, have access to children must be pedophiles. That's not what the State said. The State told you that there is a whole set of factors that you look at to determine if a person is a pedophile, not just one, a whole set of factors, those factors being whether or not they fantasize about children, whether or

not they read books with children, whether or not they see movies with children, whether or not they have sexual thoughts going through their mind when they are playing with children, whether or not they masturbate when they are thinking about children and fantasizing about children, and whether or not they put themselves in situations where they have access to children. Its not one factor that makes you a pedophile, its a combination of factors.'

"And the defendant has that combination of factors. . . Phillips v. State, ____ So.2d, ___, 16 FLW 2786 (Fla. 1st DCA, November 4, 1991).

To date, every district court of appeal, to a judge, has held that the admission of pedophile profile evidence is inadmissible. In <u>Francis v. State</u>, 512 So.2d 280 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1987), the testimony of a psychologist that the defendant had a personality characteristic of "...being attracted to children." was harmful error (at p. 282).

In <u>Erickson v. State</u>, 565 So.2d 328 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990), rev. den. 576 So.2d 286 (Fla. 1991), it was again held that the testimony of a psychiatrist who had examined the defendant and testified that he was a pedophile was erroneously admitted but it was harmless because it was "to a large degree" cumulative to other admissible (unobjected to) evidence that revealed his sexual preference towards children.

In <u>Wyatt v. State</u>, 578 So.2d 811 (Fla. 3d DCA, 1991), rev. den. 587 So.2d 1331 (Fla., 1991), the Third District Court of Appeal held that the trial judge did not abuse his discretion by refusing to allow the defendant to introduce expert testimony that he did not

fit the pedophile profile notwithstanding the fact that the victim in the case fit the profile of a sexually abused child.

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